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Introduction

Hay-on-Wye occupies the most northerly corner of the Brecon Beacons National Park with
the historic counties of Radnorshire and Herefordshire virtually contiguous with it to the north
and east respectively. The B4350 runs through the town and the B4351 linking it with the
main A438 from Brecon to Hereford on the far side of the River Wye.

The settlement divides naturally into two parts. Facing each other across the deeply incised
Login Brook, the castle motte and St Mary's church lie to the south-west of the later walled
town and occupy flattish ground above steep slopes that pitch down to the flood plain of the
Wye. The later town lies on a spur of land at the confluence of the Dulas Brook and the Wye.
The town boundary as defined by the walls follows the steep sides of these watercourses and
the only easy approach from the south was dominated by the castle.

This brief report examines the emergence and development of Hay up to the year 1750. For
the more recent history of the settlement, it will be necessary to look at other sources of
information and particularly at the origins and nature of the buildings within it.

The accompanying map is offered only as an indicative guide to the historic settlement. The
continuous line defining the historic core offers a visual interpretation of the area within
which the settlement developed, based on our interpretation of the evidence currently to hand.
It is not an immutable boundary line, and will need to be modified as new discoveries are
made. The map does not show those areas or buildings that are statutorily designated, nor
does it pick out those sites or features that are specifically mentioned in the text.

We have not referenced the sources that have been examined to produce this report, but that
information will be available in the Historic Environment Record (HER) maintained by the
Clwyd-Powys Archaeological Trust. The HER can be accessed on-line through the Archwilio
website (www.archwilio.org.uk).

History of development

Hay appears to have been a wholly new foundation of the post-Conquest era. As a settlement
it is first referred to in the years between 1135 and 1147 as Haya, while in 1299 it was called
La Haye and by the 16™ century simply as Hay. The inclusion of the river as a suffix is a late
addition. There was also a Welsh name, Gelli, which was recorded in 1215 and as Gelli
gandrell in 1614, the two names being cited together in 1625. Hay is derived from Old
English (ge)haeg which can mean an ‘area within a fence’ and is used in late Saxon and
Norman times to denote an enclosure in a forest. Gelli has a range of meanings including a
‘grove’ or ‘copse’ and more generally ‘woodland’.

There is currently no evidence to allow the contention that there was a pre-Conquest church
or settlement here. The earliest reference to a stronghold appears to be to the castell de haia in
1121 and it is generally assumed that this refers to the motte lying south-west of the town
centre and close to the church of St Mary, itself recorded about the same time and lying
outside the later town walls. That it was quickly superseded by the greater castle two hundred
metres to the north-east is a reasonable assumption, yet it is possible that as much as a century
separates the emergence of church and motte and the construction of the castle and town so it
is conceivable that during that period, settlement started to spread around the earlier focus.



It has been suggested that the Norman parish of Hay was carved out of the earlier Welsh
parish of Llanigon in around 1130.

The town was in existence in the early 13" century for it was burnt in 1216. It achieved
borough status by prescription, for no charter is recorded. In 1232, the inhabitants were given
a grant of murage by the king, allowing them to build the town walls, but in practice these
may not have been constructed until after 1237 when a second grant was made.

In 1298, more than 183 burgages were recorded in the town implying a substantial
population. But Hay undoubtedly suffered during Glyndwr’s rebellion at the beginning of the
15™ century and in keeping with other border towns, it appears to have declined in the late
medieval period, not assisted by the decline in importance of the castle. Leland recorded that
‘within the waulles [was] wonderfully decaied’ in the 1530s though the market still
functioned, and excavations on Heol y Dwr in 1990 appeared to confirm the absence of post-
medieval buildings in that part of the town. Nevertheless, it gradually emerged as an
important service centre with the development of such processing industries as tanning,
woollen manufacture and milling, and a market that was important for grain and provisions,
and livestock particularly cattle and horses but also sheep.

The heritage to 1750

On the basis of what is known about the Norman advance into Brycheiniog, it is probable that
the motte was constructed in the 1090s or perhaps slightly before. However, another authority
has argued, perhaps rather less plausibly, that this motte was constructed towards the end of
the 12™ century as the centre of a manor separate from Hay itself. Assuming that the motte
was originally accompanied by a bailey, the fact that the mound lies back from the valley
edge might indicate that the intervening gap was occupied by the bailey, though when and
why the bailey defences were levelled out remains unclear.

Hay’s stone castle is thought to have been built around 1200 and was almost certainly
constructed on a previously defended site, for a large ringwork with a stone tower attributed
by some to the late 11" or early 12 century appears to precede the stone castle. Hay Castle,
the caput or chief place of a Norman sub-lordship, has had a long and involved history
passing between the English and the Welsh and more frequently between different English
factions. It is known to have been rebuilt in 1231, and suffered extensive damage in 1265 and
again in 1460, but these are only a few of the key events in a long history — its detailed story
has yet to be written. Castle House within its enceinte is of later 17"-century date, a stone-
built mansion from the 1660s.

St Mary's church was dedicated between 1115 and 1135, but only the 15"-century tower
survived a building collapse at the beginning of the 18th century. Much of what now exists is
from €.1833 with the chancel enlarged in 1866. Where the religious of Hay worshipped in the
period between €.1700 and 1834 is not clear. The only survivals of the earlier churches on the
site are a much damaged 14™-century effigy and a couple of memorials, one of which is
certainly 18"-century.

The churchyard shows signs of enlargement for inside the present boundary a scarp bank can
be traced around two sides, suggesting that the present triangular churchyard had a smaller
predecessor, probably also triangular.

Little of the town walls survive above ground. Most parts were destroyed in piecemeal
fashion between the late 18" century and the second half of the 19" century. It is generally
considered that even the listed section of wall beside Newport Street on the east side is
basically a rebuild of the 19™ century, but on the south-west side of the town a short length of



wall foundation can still be recognised in an alley way. Nevertheless, their line can be traced
for almost the complete perimeter, and it remains to be established whether sub-surface traces
of the medieval wall remain on the south and east sides. On the north-west the construction of
the railway in 1864 necessitated the demolition or replacement of the original walls. Of the
three town gates nothing is known other than their positions and the likelihood is that they
were demolished in the 18" century. Leland also mentioned the existence of a postern gate.

The town layout displays some degree of planning though hardly to a classic pattern, for there
were topographical constraints. Three main thoroughfares provide the framework of the street
system in Hay. Broad Street and its continuation ran from the Water Gate in the north to the
West Gate in the south-west, while Lion Street and Heol y Dwr ran eastwards and south-
eastwards respectively from Broad Street to the East Gate. Originally, a large market-place
lay in front of the castle, but this is now occupied by buildings off Market Street and High
Town. The present market hall dates from 1835 but its predecessor was a structure of 17%-
century date.

Hay-on-Wye, photo 00-c-0085 © CPAT, 2013

Patterns of narrow burgage plots are readily apparent running off several of the medieval
streets within the walls. There is also a possibility based solely on cartographic evidence that
burgage plots existed outside the West Gate adjacent to the main road.

The chapel of St John in Lion Street may have been established in 1254 and was used not
only by the Guild of Tradesmen in Hay, but also by the castle's inhabitants. In ruins in the
later 18™ century, it was restored in 1930, a rare Welsh example of an urban chapel. There
may have been a second chapel outside the walls for Leland mentions taking mass there.

Hay has a wealth of old houses and inns, many of them 18"-century in date and it is not
feasible to list every one of them here.

On Broad Street, the timber-framed Cafe Royal is said to have been built in 1623, while no 5
next to it is also thought to be from the same century; West House on the opposite side of the



road originated as a 17"-century timber-framed house and Montpelier immediately to the
south of it also has 17™-century origins; and The Bear Inn on the other side of the Bridge
Street turn has 16™-century foundations; no 12 has 17"-century origins, no 13, 18"-century;
while part of the Crown Hotel is 17™-century.

On Lion Street, no.41 is early 17™-century but most houses seem to be 18" and 19"-century,
although the western extension of this street where it merges with The Pavement has 17™-
century buildings fronting it.

Bear Street has the Kilvert Country Hotel which has an embedded 17"™-century structure and
Pemberton Cottage has timber-framing from the same century. The Bear on the south side of
the street appears to have 16™-century origins; and the Old Black Lion opposite is reputed to
have a 13"-century origin, though what is visible is no earlier than the 17" century.

On Church Street, Radnor House is either late 17" or early 18™-century; and there is a string
of 18"™-century properties on the west side of the street.

Bridge Street has one early to mid-18"™-century dwelling, Oakhurst. There are 18"-century
properties on Belmont Street, and Brookfield House on Brook Street has 17"-century origins.

Archaeological excavations have in recent years filled in further detail to the picture of Hay:
excavations on Belmont Street in 1992 uncovered traces of medieval stone buildings, a cess
pit and an oven of pre-15"-century origin, and foundations of a post-medieval building used
for leather-working; a medieval building of stone-foundations was found on Heol-y-dwr in
1990 and a bank of five stone-built corn-drying kilns attributed to the period 1250-1350 and
various medieval pits were found elsewhere on this street in 2005, while work in the previous
year uncovered traces of the town wall, as had work in Castle Street in 1998 and on the
eastern wall in 2004; evidence of a post-medieval building came to light on Broad Street in
2008.

Extensive open fields were laid out around the town, some elements of them still apparent,
fossilised in the field boundaries to the south-west of the town.
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